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CONSENT AGREEMENT AND FINAL ORDER

The United States Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA” or “Complainant”) and The
Dodge Company, Inc. (“Dodge” or “Respondent”) consent to the entry of this Consent
Agreement and Final Order (“CAFQ”) pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 22.13(b) of the Consolidated
Rules of Practice Governing the Administrative Assessment of Civil Penalties and the
Revocation, Termination, or Suspension of Permits, 407C.F.R. Part 22 (*“Consolidated Rules of
Practice”). This CAFO resolves Respondent’s liability for alleged violations of (a) the chemical
accident prevention provisions of Section 112(r)(7) of the Clean Air Act (“CAA”), 42 US.C. §
7412(r)(7), and implementing federal regulations found at 40 C.F.R. Part 68; and (b) the
chemical inventory reporting requirements of Section 312(a) of the Emergency Preparedness
and Community Right-to-Know Act (“EPCRA"™), 42 U.S.C. § 11022(a), and its implementing
regulations, found at 40 C.F.R. Part 370.

EPA and Respondent agree to settle this matter through this CAFO without the filing of
an administrative complaint, as authorized under 40 C.F.R. § 22.13(b) and 22.18(b). EPA and
Respondent agree that settlement of this cause of action is in the public interest and that entry of
this CAFO without litigation is the most appropriate means of resolving this matter.

NOW, THEREFORE, before taking any testimony, without adjudication of any issue of
fact or law, and upon consent and agreement of the parties, it is hereby ordered and adjudged as

follows:

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

1. This CAFO both initiates and resolves an administrative action for the assessment

of monetary penalties, pursuant to Section 113(d) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(d), and Section



325(c) of EPCRA. As more thoroughly discussed in Sections Il and IV below, the CAFO
resolves the following CAA and EPCRA violations that Complainant alleges occurred at
facilities where Respondent manufactured or stored mortuary products that contained

formaldehyde:

Cambridge, Massachusetts Facility

(a) Failure to update and resubmit a risk management plan (“RMP ") for formaldehyde
stored and used in Respondent’s Cambridge, Massachusetts, compounding process, in
violation of Section 112(r) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(r), and implementing
regulations at 40 C.F.R. Part 68.

(b) Failure to develop and file an RMP for formaldehyde stored in Respondent’s
Cambridge, Massachusetts, product warehouse, in violation of Section 112(r) of the
CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(r), and implemcntirig regulations at 40 C.F.R. Part 68.

(c) Failure to develop a RMP management system for formaldehyde stored and used in
Respondent’s Cambridge, Massachusetts, compounding and warehousing processes,
in violation of Section 112(r) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(r), and implementing
regulations at 40 C.F.R. Part 68;

(d) Failure to complete and/or timely update a hazard assessment for formaldehyde
stored and used in Respondent’s Cambridge, Massachusetts, compounding and
warehousing processes, in violation of Section 112(r) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. §
7412(r), and implementing regulations at 40.C.F.R. Part 68;

(e) Failure to implement certain elements of a “Program 3" chemical release
prevention program for formaldehyde stored and used in Respondent’s Cambridge,

Massachusetts, compounding and warehousing processes, in violation of



Section] 12(r) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(r), and implementing regulations at
40 C.F.R. Part 68, including:
i. Failure to compile process safety information and document that equipment

met recognized and generally accepted good engineering practices;

ii.  Failure to identify and evaluate process hazards;
iii.  Failure to fully develop and implement operating procedures;
iv.  Failure to comply with training requirements;

v.  Failure to comply with mechanical integrity requirements; and

vi.  Failure to fully conduct periodic compliance audits;

Product Warehouses in lllinois, Texas, and California

4, Failure to develop and submit RMPs for formaldehyde storage in Respondent’s
product warehouses, located in Batavia, 1llinois; Fort Worth, Texas; and Fontaine,
California, in violation of Section 112(r) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(r), and
implementing regulations at 40 C.F.R. Part 68; and

(g Failure to timely submit hazardous chemical inventory forms to the proper
authorities, in violation of Section 312(a) of EPCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 11022(a) and

implementing regulations at 40 C.F.R. Part 370.

II. APPLICABLE STATUTES AND REGULATIONS

A. CAA Statutorv and Regulatory Authority

2. Section 112(r) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(r), authorizes EPA to promulgate

regulations and programs in order to prevent and minimize the consequences of accidental

releases of certain regulated substances. Specifically, Section 112(r)(3) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C.



§ 7412(r)(3), mandates that EPA promulgate a list of substances that are known to cause or
may reasonably be anticipated to cause death, injury or serious adverse effects to human health
or the environment if accidentally released. Section 112(r)(5) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. §
7412(r)(5), requires that EPA establish for each regulated substance the threshold quantity over
which an accidental release is known to cause or may reasonably be anticipated to cause death,
injury, or serious adverse effects to human health. Finally, Section 112(r)(7) of the CAA, 42
U.S.C. § 7412(r)(7), requires EPA to promulgate requirements for the prevention, detection and
correction of accidental releases of regulated substances. One of the requirements of Section
H2(e)(7), 42 U.S.C. § 7412(r)(7), is that owners or operators of certain stationary sources
prepare and implement an RMP.

3. Section 112(r)}(7}(E) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(r)}(7)(E), renders it unlawful
for any person to operate a stationary source subject to the regulations promulgated under the
authority of Section 112(r) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. §74 1.2(1'), in violation of such regulations.

4, The regulations promulgated pursuant to Section 112(r)(7) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C.
§ 7412(r)(7), are found at 40 C.F.R. Part 68.

5. Forty C.F.R. § 68.130 lists the substances regulated under Part 68 and their
associated threshold quantities (“RMP chemicals” or “regulated substances”) in accordance with
the requirements of Section 112(r)(3) and (7) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(r)(3) and (7).

6. Under 40 C.F.R. § 68.10, an owner or operator of a stationary source that has
more than a threshold quantity of a regulated substance in a process must comply with the
requirements of Part 68 by no later than the latest of the following dates: (a) June 21, 1999;

(b) three years after the date on which a regulated substance is first listed under 40 C.F.R.§



68.130; or (¢) the date on which a regulated substance is first present above a threshold
quantity in a process.

7. Each process in which a regulated substance is present in more than a threshold
quantity (“covered process™) is subject to one of three risk management programs. Program 1 is
the least comprehensive, and Program 3 is the most comprehensive. Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. §
68.10(b), a covered process is subject to Program 1 if, among other things, the distance to a toxic
or flammable endpoint for a worst-case release assessment is Jess than the distance to any public
receptor, Under 40 C.F.R. § 68.10(d), a covered process is subject to Program 3 if the process
does not meet the eligibility requirements for Program 1 and is either in a specified NAICS code
or subject to the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (“OSHA”) process safety
management standard at 29 C.F.R. § 1910.119, Forty C.F.R. § 68.10(c) prescribes that a covered
process that meets neither Program | nor Program 3 eligibility requirements is subject to
Program 2.

8. Forty C.F.R. § 68.12 mandates that the owner or operator of a stationary source
subject to the requirements of Part 68 submit an RMP to EPA, as provided in 40 CF.R. §
68.150. The RMP documents compliance with Part 68 in a summary format. For example, the
RMP for a Program 3 process documents compliance with the elements of a program 3 Risk
Management Program, including 40 C.F.R. § 68.12 (General Requirements); 40 C.F.R. § 68.15
(Management System to Oversee Implementation of RMP); 40 C.F.R. Part 68, Subpart B
(Hazard Assessment to Determine Off-Site Consequences of a Release); 40 C.F.R. Part 68,
Subpart D (Program 3 Prevention Program, including the Program 3 components listed in
paragraphs 1(e) above and 34 below; and 40 C.F.R. Part 68, Subpart E (Emergency Response

Program).



9. Additionally, 40 C.F.R. § 68.190(b) requires that the owner or operator of a
stationary source must revise and update the RMP submitted to EPA at least once every five
years from the date of its initial submission or most recent update. Other aspects of the
prevention program must also be periodically updated. For example, for Program 2 and 3
processes, process hazard analyses and reviews must be conducted at least once every five years,
pursuant to 40 C.F.R. §§ 68.67 and 68.50.

10.  Sections 113(a) and (d) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7413(a) and (d), as amended by
EPA’s 2008 Civil Monetary Penalty Inflation Adjustment Rule, 40 C.F.R. Part 19, promulgated
in accordance with the Debt Collection Improvement Act of 1996 (“DCIA™), 31 U.S.C. § 3701,
provide for the assessment of civil penalties for violations of Section 112(r) of the CAA, 42
U.S.C. § 7412(r), in amounts up to $32,500 per day for violations occurring between March 15,
2004 and January 12, 2009, and up to $37,500 per day for violations occurring after January 12,
2009.

11.  EPA and the U.S. Department of Justice have jointly determined that this action is
an appropriate administrative penalty action under Section 113(d)(1) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. §

7413(d)(1).

B. EPCRA Statutory and Regulatory Authority

12.  Inaccordance with Section 312(a) of EPCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 11022(a), owners and
operators of facilities that are required to prepare or have available material safety data sheets
(“MSDSs™) for hazardous chemicals under OSHA (“hazardous chemicals” or “hazardous

chemicals under OSHA™) must prepare and submit an emergency and hazardous chemical




inventory form (“Tier I” or “Tier II” form) to the local emergency planning committee
(“LEPC”), the state emergency response commission (“SERC”), and the local fire department.
Tier I or Tier II forms must be submitted annually on or before March 1 and are required to
contain chemical inventory information with respect to the preceding calendar year.
Additionally, Section 312(b) of EPCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 11022(b), authorizes EPA to establish
minimum threshold levels of hazardous chemicals for the purposes of Section 312(a) of EPCRA,
42 U.S.C. § 11022(a).

13. The regulations promulgated pursuant to Section 312 of EPCRA, 42 U.S.C. §
11022, are found at 40 C.F.R. Part 370. EPA promulgated new regulations to implement Section
312 of EPCRA on November 30, 2008 (73 Fed. Reg. 65478), but the substantive requirements
relevant to the violations alleged herein did not change. Hereinafter, this CAFO cites the current
version of the applicable 40 C.F.R. Part 370 regulations with cross references to the citations that
were in effect at the time of some of the alleged violations.

14. In accordance with Section 312(b) of EPCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 11022(b), 40 C.F.R. §
370.10 (formerly § 370.20(b)) establishes minimum threshold levels for hazardous chemicals for
the purposes of Part 370.

15. Under40 C.F.R. §§ 370.10, 370.20, 370.40, 370.44, and 370.45 (formerly §§
370.20 and 370.25), the owner or operator of a facility that has present a quantity of a hazardous
chemical exceeding the minimum threshold level must prepare and submit a Tier I or Tier II
form to the LEPC, SERC and local fire department. Forty C.F.R. § 370.45 (formerly § 370.25(a))
prescribes that Tier I or Tier II forms must be submitted annually on or before March 1 and are
required to contain chemical inventory information with respect to the preceding calendar year.

The LEPC, SERC or local fire department may request that a facility submit the more
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comprehensive Tier 11 form in lieu of the Tier 1 form. Massachusetts, lllinois, and Texas require
the Tier Il form. California requires submission of California Hazardous Material Inventory
Forms #2730 and #2731, which EPA has deemed meets the requirements of EPCRA Section
312.

16.  Section 325(c) of EPCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 11045(c), as amended by EPA’s 2008
Civil Monetary Penalty Inflation Adjustment Rule, 40 C.F.R. Part 19, promulgated in
accordance with the Debt Collection Improvement Act of 1996 (“DCIA™), 31 U.S.C. § 3701,
provides for the assessment of civil penalties for violations of Section 312(a) of EPCRA, 42
U.S.C. § 11022(a), in amounts of up to $32,500 per day for violations occurring between
March 15, 2004 and January 12, 2009, and up to $37,500 per day for violations occurring after

January 12, 2009,

HI. GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

A. Cambridee, Massachusetts Facility

17.  Atthe time of the alleged violations, Respondent operated a facility located at
165 and 181 Cambridgepark Drive in Cambridge, Massachusetts {the “Massachusetts Facility”),
where Respondent blended, packaged, stored, and sold embalming chemicals and other funerary
products. Respondent stored and used formaldehyde, isopropanol and methanol, among other
chemicals, in its operations.

18.  The Massachusetts Facility was located in a business park near offices, a
daycare, restaurants, residential buildings, and Alewife Station, a Massachusetts Bay Transit

Authority transportation center.
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19.  Respondent is a corporation organized under the laws of the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts. As a corporation, Respondent is a “person” within the meaning of Section 302(e)
of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7602(e), against whom an administrative order assessing a civil penalty
may be issued under Section 113(d)(1) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(d)(1). Additionally,
Respondent is a “person” within the meaning of Section 329(7) of EPCRA, 42 U.S.C. §
11049(7), 40 C.F.R. § 370.66 (formerly § 370.2), against whom a civil penalty may be
assessed under Section 325(c) of EPCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 11045(c).

20. At the time of the violations alleged herein, Respondent was the operator of
a “stationary source” in Massachusetts, as the term “stationary source” is defined at Section
112(r)(2)(C) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(r)(2)(C), and 40 C.F.R. § 68.3.

21.  Until early 2011, Respondent used and stored formaldehyde in the bulk filling,
blending and bottling operation at the Massachusetts Facility (“compounding process”). In early
2011, Respondent outsourced compounding operations involving formaldehyde but continued to
maintain a warehouse at the Massachusetts Facility where it stored formaldehyde-containing
products.

22. Formaldehyde is an RMP Chemical listed at 40 C.F.R. § 68.130, having a
threshold quantity of 15,000 pounds. In accordance with 40 C.F.R. Parts 355 and 370, it is also a
chemical subject to EPCRA’s chemical inventory reporﬁng requirements when present in a
quantity of 500 pounds or more.

23. On January 6, 2010, EPA conducted an inspection at the Massachusetts Facility to
determine its compliance with Section 112(r) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. 7412(r), and EPCRA. EPA

also performed a follow-up inspection at the Massachusetts Facility on January 8, 2010. The



January 6 and 8 inspections are hereinafter referred to collectively as “EPA’s January 2010
inspection.”

24.  Atthe time of EPA’s January 2010 inspection, the Massachusetts Facility housed
approximately 5,000 gallons, or about 45,000 pounds, of a 37% formaldehyde solution in one
bulk tank. That tank was interconnected with other mixing vessels in the compounding process
that contained formaldehyde (the “interconnected system”).

25. At the time of inspection, Respondent also warehoused embalming chemicals
containing formaldehyde at the Massachusetts Facility (the “warehousing process”) in quantities
which exceeded the threshold quantity under 40 C.F.R. § 68.130.

26.  The storage of more than 15,000 pounds of formaldehyde in the compounding
process at the Massachusetts Facility rendered that process a “covered process” as that term is
defined in 40 C.F.R. § 68.3. Likewise, the storage of more than 15,000 pounds of formaldehyde
in the warehouse rendered the warehousing process a “covered process.”

27.  Respondent stored formaldehyde in excess of threshold quantities in the
compounding process from at least 1999 to early 2011. Likewise, Respondent stored
formaldehyde in excess of threshold quantities in the warehousing process from at least 2004 to
2012. According to Respondent, in early 2013, Respondent moved its offices from Cambridge to
Billerica, Massachusetts, and ceased warehousing formaldehyde-based products in
Massachusetts.

28.  The endpoint for a worst case release of formaldehyde at the Massachusetts
Facility from the compounding process was, at all times relevant to the alleged violations, greater

than the distance to a public receptor. Likewise the endpoint for a worst-case release of

12



formaldehyde from the Massachusetts Facility’s warehousing process was greater than the
distance to a public receptor.

29.  Storage of formaldehyde solution with a formaldehyde concentration of 37% or
greater is subject to OSHA’s project safety management (“PSM”) requirements at 29 C.F.R. §
1910.119 if at least 1,000 pounds of such solution is present in a process.

30.  Asthe operator of a stationary source that held more than the threshold amount
of a regulated substance in the compounding “covered process,” Respondent was subject to the
RMP requirements of Part 68 for the compounding process until that process shut down in 2011.
Likewise, as the operator of a stationary source that held more than the threshold amount of a
regulated substance in the warehousing “covered process,” Respondent was subject to the RMP
requirements of Part 68 for the warehousing process.

31.  Inaccordance with 40 C.F.R. § 68.10(a)-(d), Respondent’s compounding process
at the Massachusetts Facility was subject to the requirements of RMP Program 3. The covered
process was subject to Program 3 because (1) the distance to a toxic or flammable endpoint for a
worst-case release of formaldehyde was more than the distance to a public receptor, making the
processes ineligible for Program 1; and (2) the process was subject to OSHA’s PSM regulations.

32. Likewise, in accordance with 40 C.F.R. § 68.10(a)-(d), the warehousing process
at the Massachusetts Facility was subject to the requirements of RMP Program 3. This covered
process was subject to Program 3 because (1) the distance to a toxic or flammable endpoint for a
worst-case release of formaldehyde was more than the distance to a public receptor, making the
processes ineligible for Program 1; and (2) the process was subject to OSHA’s PSM regulations.

33.  In 1999, Respondent submitted a Program 3 RMP for the compounding process

at the Massachusetts Facility, which Respondent updated on June 22, 2004. As of EPA’s

13



January 2010 inspection, Respondent had not yet submitted its five-year (i.e., 2009) update to the

RMP. Nor had it submitted an RMP for the warehousing process.

34. During EPA’s January 2010 inspection, an EPA inspector asked Respondent

questions from the “RMP Program Level 3 Process Checklist” (the “Checklist”) to ascertain

Respondent’s compliance with the following Program 3 components at the Massachusetts

Facility’s compounding process:

ls

Five-Year Accident History [40 C.F.R. § 68.42(b)]
Process Safety Information [40 C.F.R. § 68.65]

Process Hazard Analysis [40 C.F.R. § 68.67]

. Operating Procedures [40 C.F.R. § 68.69]

Training [40 C.F.R. § 68.71]
Mechanical Integrity [40 C.F.R. § 68.73]

Management of Change [40 C.F.R. § 68.75]

. Pre-Startup Safety Review [40 C.F.R. § 68.77]

Compliance Audit [40 C.F.R. § 68.79]

. Incident Investigation [40 C.F.R. § 68.81]

Employee Participation [40 C.F.R. § 68.83]

Hot Work Permit [40 C.F.R. § 68.85]

m. Contractors [40 C.F.R. § 68.87]

Respondent’s responses indicated that, at the time of inspection, Respondent did not have most

of the above program elements in place for the compounding process, although it was working

on developing some of them.



35.  During the inspection, EPA inspectors observed some potentially dangerous
chemical management practices related to the compounding process at the Massachusetts
Facility, including, among others, formaldehyde tanks insecurely fastened to the ground,
unprotected PVC piping located near the floor that could inadvertently be stepped on and
broken, some insufficiently labeled shut-off valves and piping on tanks 5-9 (although most
piping and valves were appropriately labeled), an unstable base on tank 9, which needed shims
to keep it level, lack of gauges on tanks A and B to indicate when the tanks were full, lack of
adequate secondary containment due to cracks in floor and gaps between floor and walls, lack of
automatic vapor sensors to detect flammable and toxic fumes, and lack of emergency lighting
and ventilation in the event of a power outage. EPA also observed other potentially dangerous
chemical management practices related to non-formaldehyde processes at the Massachusetts
Facility, particularly in the flammables storage room.

36. After the inspection, Dodge continued to develop the program elements listed
above, and was cooperative in working with EPA on cqming into compliance with RMP
requirements.

37. Respondent submitted an updated RMP summary to EPA Headquarters, covering
both compounding and warehousing processes as Program 3 process, on September 21, 2010,
more than fourteen months after an updated RMP was required for the compounding process
under 40 C.F.R. § 68.190, and many years after an initia} RMP was required for the
warehousing process.

38. On or about September 29, 2010, EPA issued a CAA Notice of Violation,
Administrative Order, and Reporting Requirement (“NOV/AO/RR”) to Respondent, citing

violations of CAA Sections 112(r)(1} (commonly known as “the General Duty Clause”) and

15



112(r)(7) (the RMP requirements). The NOV/AQ/RR summarized some of the RMP
deficiencies and potentially dangerous conditions observed by the EPA inspectors; requested
additional information regarding compliance with applicable RMP requirements; ordered
Respondent to certify and document its compliance with applicable RMP requirements; and
ordered Respondent to conduct a hazard analysis of extremely hazardous substances present
at the Massachusetts Facility other than formaldehyde.

39. During a meeting held on November 8, 2010 to discuss the NOV/AO/RR,
Respondent explained how it had addressed certain of the potentially dangerous conditions
listed in paragraph 35 above and also contested some of EPA’s findings about such
conditions. Respondent documented its response to EPA’s findings and explained how it
had fixed some of the problems found at the facility in a December 2010 report entitled
Response to Allegations.

40.  On or about November 12, 2010, Respoﬁdent provided EPA with its updated
Risk Management Plan and Process Safety Management Manual (“November 12, 2010
submission”). The November 12, 2010 submission indicated that both compounding and
warehousing processes at the Massachusetts Facility were subject to Program 3
requirements under 40 C.F.R. Part 68 and included documentation showing that
Respondent was coming into compliance with RMP requirements.

41.  On February 14, 2011, Respondent submitted a process hazard analysis of
non-formaldehyde extremely hazardous substances, in accordance with the requirements of
the NOV/AO/RR, along with a schedule for addressing some of the issues identified.
Shortly thereafter, Respondent provided responses to EPA’s information request on or

about March 3, 2011 (“March 3, 2011 submission™).

16



42.  Respondent’s March 3, 2011 submission indicates that formaldehyde was
present in the Massachusetts Facility in the following quantities during the years 2006-
2010: 260,000 pounds in 2006; 224,000 pounds in 2007; 266,000 pounds in 2008; 220,324
pounds in 2009; and 220,324 pounds in 2010,

43. Respondent resubmitted a revised RMP summary to EPA Headquarters on
September 29, 2011 and a revised RMP Manual to EPA Region 1 in October of 2011 to, among
other things, reflect that Respondent no longer operated the compounding process at the

Massachusetts Facility.

B. Illinois, Texas and California Facilities

44, During the course of investigating compliance at Respondent’s Massachusetts
Facility, EPA learned that Respondent had distribution centers and warehouses for
formaldehyde-containing mortuary products in other states, Specifically, Respondent operates

distribution centers and warechouses located at:

a) 2650 Suffolk Drive, Fort Worth, Texas (“Texas Facility”);
b) 1550 Beach Street, Batavia, Illinois (“Illinois Facility”); and

c¢) 15060 Hilton Drive, Fontana, California (“California Facility”).

45.  For each of the facilities listed in paragraph 44, Respondent is the operator of a
“stationary source,” as that term is defined at Section 112{r)}(2)(C), 42 U.S.C. § 7412(r)(2)(C),
and 40 C.F.R. § 68.3, and of a “facility,” as that term is defined by Section 329(4) of EPCRA,
42 U.S.C. § 11049(4),40 C.F.R. § 370.66.

46.  Respondent reviewed its compliance with RMP and EPCRA requirements at
its Texas, lllinois and California Facilities and, on October 7, 2011, answered some

questions that EPA had posed to Respondent about such facilities.
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47.  Respondent discovered that the Texas, Illinois and California Facilities
should, but did not have, RMP plans for storage of formaldehyde in excess of regulatory
threshold quantities. For example:

a. In 2011, the Illinois Facility stored approximately 30,000 pounds of

formaldehyde in one warehouse. This facility has been in operation since at least 2006

and has had over the RMP and EPCRA threshold quantities of formaldehyde since then.

b. In 2011, the Texas Facility stored approximately 20,000 pounds of

formaldehyde in one warehouse. This facility has been in operation since at least 2006

and has had over the RMP and EPCRA threshold quantities of formaldehyde since then.

c. In 2011, the California Facility stored approximately 30,350 pounds of
formaldehyde in one room. This facility has been in operation since at least 2006 and
has had over the RMP and EPCRA threshold quantities of formaldehyde since then.

48.  The storage of more than 15,000 pounds of formaldehyde at each warehouse in
Texas, Illinois, and California is a “covered process” as that term is defined in 40 C.F.R. §
68.3.

49.  As the operator of stationary sources that each hold more than the threshold
amount of a regulated substance in a covered process, Respondent is subject to the RMP
requirements of Part 68 for its storage of formaldehydé at the Texas, lllinois and California
facilities.

50.  The endpoint for a worst case release of formaldehyde at each of the Texas,

Illinois and California Facilities is greater than the distance to a public receptor.



51. According to Respondent, the storage of formaldehyde-containing products
in the Texas, Illinois, and California Facilities is not subject to OSHA’s PSM requirements
at 29 C.F.R. § 1910.119.

32, Respondent submitted RMP Plans for the Texas, and Illinois Facilities to
EPA on or about March 3, 2011, and for the California Facility on or about October 6,
2011. Each of these RMP Plans were submitted in accordance with the requirements of the
RMP Program 2.

33, Respondent submitted Program 2 RMPs for the warehousing processes at the
Texas, Illinois, and California Facilities because (1) the distance to a toxic or flammable
endpoint for a worst-case release of formaldehyde was calculated to be more than the
distance to a public receptor, making the processes ineligible for Program 1; and (2) the
processes are not subject to OSHA’s PSM regulations..

54.  However, because the formaldehyde was packaged in plastic containers (with
the exception of only a few glass containers at the Illinois Facility), each of the Texas,
Illinois, and California Facilities actually may be subject only to the requirements of RMP
Program 1, and not to the requirements of RMP Program 2. This is because the packaging
may reduce the distance to a toxic or flammable endpoint associated with dropping or
piercing a box containing many bottles of formaldehyde-based product. In addition, Dodge
was communicating with each of the local fire departments at each of the Facilities. Dodge
submits that it complied with all California state requirements for formaldehyde storage and
in December 2006 prepared and submitted to EPA an RMP for the California Facility, but

the RMP could not be processed by EPA’s computer system.
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55. In 2010, Respondent also assessed its compliance with EPCRA at the Texas,
Illinois, and California Facilities and found some violations (see Section V. B. of this

CAFO).

IV. VIOLATIONS

A, Massachusetts Facility

Count One: Failure to Update and Resubmit RMP for the Compounding Process

56.  Complainant realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 55
of this document.

57. Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 68.190(b), the owner or operator of a stationary
source must revise and update the RMP submitted to EPA at least once every five years
from the date of its initial submission or the most recent update. Sections 68.150-68.185 set
out the required elements of the RMP and RMP update.

58.  Respondent’s RMP update was due on June 22, 2009, five years after its June
22, 2004 update. Respondent failed to timely update and resubmit a Program 3 RMP for the
formaldehyde stored and used in the Massachusetts Facility’s compounding process after its
previous registration had expired. Upon request by EPA inspectors, Respondent was unable
to provide written components of its RMP for formaldehyde at the time of inspection.

59. By failing to re-submit an RMP for formaldehyde, Respondent was in
violation of 40 C.F.R. § 68.190(b) and Section 112(r)(7)(e) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. §

7412(r)(7)(e), from at least June 22, 2009 to September 21, 2010.
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Count Two: Failure to Submit a RMP for Formaldehvde in Warehousing Process

60.  Complainant realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 59

of this document.

61.  Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 68.150(a), the owner or operator of a stationary
source must submit an RMP to EPA that includes information on al/ covered processes.
Under 40 C.F.R. § 68.190(b), an owner or operator must update an RMP no later than the
date on which a regulated substance is first present above a threshold quantity in a new
process and every five years thereafter. Forty C.F.R. §§ 68.150-68.185 set out the required

elements of the RMP.

62.  From at least 2004 to at least 2011, Respondent stored formaldehyde in its
warehousing process in quantities which exceeded the threshold quantity of 15,000 pounds.
Pursuant to 40 C.F.R., § 68.10, 40 C.F.R. § 68.150, and 40 C.F.R. § 68.190, Respondent’s
RMP was required to include information on formaldehyde in its warehousing process to be

complete and satisfy the RMP documentation requirements of 40 C.F.R. §§ 68.150-85.

63. Respondent did not include information on formaldehyde in its warehousing
process in its RMPs submitted to EPA on or about June 21, 1999 and June 22, 2004.
Respondent did not update its RMP to include information on formaldehyde in its
warehousing process until on or about September 21, 2010.

64. By failing to include information regarding formaldehyde in the warehousing
process in its RMP, Respondent violated 40 C.F.R. § 68.150(a), which requires submittal of
a complete RMP for all processes, and 40 C.F.R. § 68.190(b), which requires revision and

updating of such RMP at least every five years or when a regulated substance is first present



above a threshold quantity in a new process, and Section 112(r)(7)(e) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C.

§ 7412(6)(7)(e).

Count Three: Failure to Develop a Management System for RMP Implementation for
both Compounding and Warehousing Processes

65.  Complainant realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 64

of this document.

66. Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. 68.15, the owner or operator of a stationary source with
processes subject to the Program 3 requirements of 40 C.F.R. Part 68 must develop a
management system to oversee the implementation of risk management program elements,

67.  Inits NOV/AO/RR, EPA required Respondent to provide information about
any management program it had put in place between September 30, 2005 and September
29, 2010 that would satisty the requirements of 40 C.F.R. § 68.15. In its March 3, 2011
submission, Respondent produced no information about management systems in place
before on or about November 12, 2010.

68. A review of Respondent’s 1999 RMP Manual indicated that RMP
compliance would be the responsibility of the Vice President of Manufacturing, but the
1999 RMP Manual did not describe the particulars of any management system.
Respondent’s 2002 RMP compliance audit concluded that the management system was
partially incomplete, and management of the risk management system had lapsed by June 2,
2007, when Respondent failed to conduct a required three-year RMP compliance audit.

69.  Asdiscussed throughout this CAFO, Respondent violated many of the

requirements of 40 C.F.R. Part 68. Respondent’s failure to comply with applicable
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regulations demonstrates that Respondent did not have-a management system in place
to effectively implement risk management program elements.

70. By failing to have a management system to oversee implementation of the
risk management program, Respondent violated 40 C.F.R. § 68.15 and Section 112(r)(7)(e)
of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(r)(7)(e), from at least June 2, 2007 to November 12, 2010 for
the compounding process and from at least 2004 to on or about November 12, 2010 for the
warehousing process.

Count Four: Failure to Complete Hazard Assessment Scenarios for Warehousing Process

and Timely Update Hazard Assessment Scenarios for Compounding Process

71. Complainant realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs | through 70
of this document.

72.  Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. Part 68, Subpart B, specifically §§ 68.10, 68.25, and
68.28, the owner or operator of a stationary source with a Program 3 process must perform
a hazard assessment that, for each covered process, analyzes and reports a worst-case
release scenario that estimates the endpoint of an accidental release of regulated toxic
substances from the process under worst-case conditions. The assessment must also include
at least one alternative release scenario for each regulated toxic substance held in a covered
process. Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 68.36, these scenario analyses must be updated at least
every five years and must also be updated within six months of any change in a stationary
source that might reasonably be expected to increase or decrease the distance to an endpoint
by a factor of two or more. Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 68.42, the owner or operator of a

stationary source must also include a five-year accident history with its hazard assessment.
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Forty C.F.R. § 68.39 requires maintenance of records pertaining to the off-site consequence
analysis.

73. The hazard assessment that accompanied Respondent’s June 22, 2004 RMP,
did not include a worst-case scenario analysis for forméldehyde stored in'Respondent’s
warehousing process. Assuming that a threshold quantity of formaldehyde first became
present in the Massachusetts Facility’s warehouse no later than December 30, 2004,
pursuant to 40 C.F.R. §§ 68.20, 68.25, and 68.36, Respondent was required to perform a
worst-case scenario analysis for its warehousing process no later than June 30, 2005.
However, Respondent did not do so until on or about September 21, 2010, when
Respondent submitted its RMP summary covering the warehouse process to EPA
Headquarters.

74, The hazard assessment for Respondent’s compounding process, which was
updated on or about June 22, 2004, was due to be updated on June 22, 2009 but was not
updated until on or about September 21, 2010, when Respondent submitted its RMP
summary to EPA Headquarters.

75. By failing to update the hazard assessment for the compounding process and
perform its initial hazard assessment for the warehousing process in a timely manner,
Respondent violated 40 C.F.R. Part 68, Subpart B, and Section 112(r)}(7)(e) of the CAA, 42

U.S.C. § 7412(r)(7)(e), from at least June 30, 2005 to September 21, 2010.
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Count Five: Failure to Compile Process Safetv Information for Both Compounding and
Warehousing Processes and Document that Equipment Met Recognized and Generally
Accepted Good Engineering Practices

76. Complainant realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 75
of this document.

77. Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 68.65, the owner or operator of a Program 3 process
must complete a compilation of written process safety information before conducting the
process hazard analysis required by 40 C.F.R. § 68.67. This compilation enables appropriate
identification and understanding of hazards posed by regulated substances in the process and
the technology and equipment of the process. Among other things, to comply with the process
safety information requirements, the owner and operator must compile information on the
hazards of regulated substances; the technology of the process; and the equipment involved in
the process (including materials of construction, electrical classification, piping and instrument
diagrams, ventilation system design, relief system design, and design codes and standards). The
owner and operator must also document that the equipment complies with generally accepted
good engineering practices. For existing equipment designed and constructed in accordance
with codes, standards, or practices that are no longer in general use, the owner or operator must
determine and document that the equipment is designed, maintained, inspected, tested, and
operating in a safe manner.

78.  Asdescribed in Paragraph 34 above, during EPA’s January 2010 inspection,
Respondent personnel orally responded to questions oﬁ the RMP Program Level 3 Process
Checklist about the compounding process. The answers to the questions about 40 C.F.R. §
68.65 indicated that Respondent had not fully compiled process safety information for the

compounding process.
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79.  Also, a review of Respondent’s 1999 RMP indicated that the process safety
information section for the compounding process was deficient because it did not include
materials of construction, electrical classification, piping and instrument diagrams, ventilation
system design, relief system design, safety systems (e.g., interlocks and vapor detection
systems) and specific design codes and standards. Nor did it list all the equipment. Moreover,
Respondent did not document that the equipment either currently complied with generally
accepted good engineering practices, or for existing equipment designed and constructed in
accordance with codes, standards, or practices that were no longer in general use, that the
equipment was designed, maintained, inspected, tested, and operating in a safe manner,
Respondent did not have updates to the process safety information section of the 1999 RMP
Manual available, despite its determination during its 2002 RMP compliance audit that the
process safety information was incomplete, until it submitted a new RMP manual on
November 12 of 2010. Moreover, Respondent used equipment that was not compliant with
generally accepted good engineering practices until it outsourced its compounding process on
or about January 31, 2011,

80.  Neither the 1999 RMP Manual or the 2004 RMP discussed process safety
information for the warehousing process.

81.  Inits NOV/AO/RR, EPA required Respondent to provide information about
its gathering of process safety information from September 30, 2005 to September 29, 2010
that would satisty the requirements of 40 C.F.R. § 68.65. In its March 3, 2011 submission,
Respondent produced no information indicating that it had fully complied with process

safety information before November 12, 2010.
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82. By failing to fully compile process safety information or document that the
equipment complied with recognized and generally accepted engineering practices for the
compounding process from at least 1999 to on or about January 31, 2011, Respondent
violated 40 C.F.R. § 68.65 and Section 112(r)(7)(e) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(r)(7)(e).
Likewise by failing to fully compile process safety information for the warehousing process
from at least 2006 to on or about November 12, 2010, Respondent violated 40 C.F.R. §

68.65 and Section 112(r)(7)(e) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(r)(7)(e).

Count Six: Failure to Conduct Process Hazard Analysis for Both Compounding and
Warehousing Processes

83. Complainant realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 82
of this document.

84. Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 68.67, the owne; or operator of a Program 3 process
is required to perform an initial process hazard analysis on covered processes. The process
hazard analysis must identify, evaluate, and control the hazards involved in the process.
Additionally, the owner or operator must update the process hazard analysis every five
years and when a major change in the process occurs. Also, the owner or operator must
comply with the documentation requirements of 40 C.F.R. § 68.67.

85. As described in Paragraph 34 above, during EPA’s January 2010 inspection,
Respondent personnel orally responded to questions on the RMP Program Level 3 Process
Checklist. The answers to the questions about 40 C.F.R. § 68.67 indicated that, as of the
date of EPA’s inspection on January 6 and 8, 2010, Respondent did not have a process

hazard analysis available.
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86. Between March 10, 2010 and June 2, 2010, Respondent and its contractor
completed a process hazard analysis (“2010 Process Hazard Analysis”). In its
NOV/AO/RR, EPA required Respondent to provide information about any process hazard
analysis the company had performed between September 30, 2005 and September 29, 2010
that would satisfy the requirements of 40 C.F.R. § 68.67. In its March 3, 2011 submission,
Respondent produced no information indicating that it had completed a process hazard
analysis before June of 2010.

87.  Asdescribed in Paragraph 35 above, during EPA’s January 2010 inspection,
EPA inspectors observed potentially dangerous chemical storage practices at the
Massachusetts Facility that showed a failure to identify hazards associated with the Program
3 compounding process.

88. Moreover, the 2010 Process Hazard Analysis indicated some additional
major risks with the compounding process, such as the potential for fire or explosion
resulting from buildup of flammable vapor and the introduction of a spark from sources
such static discharge or non-rated electrical equipment. Examples include the electrical
panels and the forklift used in the compounding room that were not rated for an
environment where flammable vapors could accumulate and ignite. The July 2010 Process
Hazard Analysis also determined that fiberglass storage and mixing tanks were not
compliant with OSHA, National Fire Prevention Association (“NFPA”), or Massachusetts
Fire Prevention requirements; the PVC piping used to dispense flammable/combustible
liquids from the storage tanks to the mixing tanks was not compliant with OSHA, NFPA,
or Massachusetts Fire Prevention requirements; fill meters on the formaldehyde and

isopropanol tanks were not functioning properly; it was dangerous to check the fill levels
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on steel tanks by having an employee do so with a yard stick rather than with mechanical
devices; there were no regular inspection procedures to prevent tank failure; employees
were not trained on the importance of only using non-sparking hand tools in the mixing
area, where flammable chemicals were used; Lower-Explosive-Limit monitors with alarms
should be installed; and that in several locations grounding/bonding systems needed to be
installed or checked for flammable liquid dispensing processes to avoid fire or explosion
from static discharge.

89.  Finally, Respondent had not completed a process hazard analysis at all for the
warehousing process from at least 2004 to June 2, 2010,

90. Accordingly, Respondent violated 40 C.F.R. § 68.67 and Section 112(r){(7)(e)
of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(r)(7)(e), from at least 1999 to June 2, 2010.

Count Seven: Failure to Comply with Program 3 Operating Procedures Requirements for
the Compounding and Warehousing Processes

91. Complainant realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 90

of this document.

92. Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 68.69, the owner or operator of a Program 3 process
is required to develop and implement written operating procedures that provide instructions
or steps for safely conducting activities associated with the covered process. The owner or
operator must also make these procedures available to employees who are involved in the
process; update the procedures to reflect current operating practices; certify annually that
the operating procedures are current; and implement safe work practices to control hazards

during specific operations.
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93.  Asdescribed in Paragraph 34 above, Respondent personnel orally responded
to questions on the RMP Program Level 3 Process Checklist during EPA’s January 2010
inspection. The answers to the questions about 40 C.F.R. § 68.69 indicated that Respondent
had not yet, as of the date of inspection, completed developing and implementing written
operating procedures; made such procedures available to employees; or certified annually
that the operating procedures were current.

94.  Inthe 2010 NOV/AO/RR, EPA required Respondent to provide information
about its development of written operating procedures between September 30, 2005 and
September 29, 2010 that would satisfy the requirements of 40 C.F.R. § 68.69. In its March 3,
2011 submission, Respondent indicated that it had created and compiled some standard
operating procedures and made them available to employees (such as for bulk delivery of
formaldehyde and for blending room operations), but Respondent produced no information
indicating that it had regularly updated or annually certified these procedures. Moreover, in its
July 10, 2010 compliance audit, Respondent indicated that not all of the required elements of
the operating procedures were addressed in the operating procedures; that they were not
readily accessible to employees involved in a process; and that Respondent had not certified
annually that the procedures were current.

95. Finally, operating procedures for the warehousing operation, which has been
in operation since at least 2006, were not developed or.available until on or about
November 12, 2010.

96. Accordingly, Respondent violated 40 C.F.R. § 68.69 and Section 112(r)(7)(e)
of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(r)(7)(e), from at least 2004 to on or about November 12,

2010.
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Count Eight: Failure to Comply with Program 3 Training Requirements for Both
Compounding and Warehousing Processes

97.  Complainant realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs | through 96
of this document.

98. Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 68.71, the owner or operator of a Program 3 process
must train each employee involved in operating a process, provide refresher training at least
every three years, and document such training. The training shall include emphasis on
specific safety and health hazards, emergency operations including shutdown, and safe
work practices applicable to the employee’s job tasks. Training documentation must record
the date of the training and the means used to verify thét employees understood the training.
As described in Paragraph 34 above, during EPA’s January 2010 inspection, Respondent
personnel orally responded to questions on the RMP Program Level 3 Process Checklist.
The answers to the questions about 40 C.F.R. § 68.71 indicated that Respondent was
working on developing training that included an emphésis on safety and health hazards,
emergency operations and safe work practices, and that Respondent had not yet, as of the
date of inspection, completed refresher training or documented employee training.

99.  Inthe NOV/AO/RR, EPA required Respondent to provide information about
its training procedures between September 30, 2005 and September 29, 2010 that would
satisfy the requirements of 40 C.F.R. § 68.71. In its March 3, 2011 submission, Respondent
indicated that it did have some worker training programs in place during that time period.
Respondent submitted records of some worker trainings, most occurring after May 2009
and none occurring before a fire extinguisher use training in March 31, 2009.

100.  Furthermore, Respondent’s 2002 RMP compliance audit found that

compliance with all but one of the training requirements for the compounding process was



unknown. Respondent’s July 2010 RMP compliance audit found that refresher training had
not been provided every three years and that training records were deficient.
101.  Respondent did not have a training program in place for the warehousing
process at all until on or about November 12, 2010, when it submitted its RMP Manual.
102, Because it failed to adequately train and record compliance with training
requirements, Respondent violated 40 C.F.R. § 68.71 and Section 112(r)(7)(e) of the CAA,
42 U.S.C. § 7412(r)(7)(e), from at least June 20, 2002, the date of the 2002 compliance

audit, through on or about November 12, 2010.

Count Nine: Failure to Comply with Program 3 Mechanical Integrity Requirements

103.  Complainant realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs | through
102 of this document.

104, Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 68.73, the owner or operator of a Program 3 process
must establish written procedures to maintain the ongoing integrity of certain process
equipment; train employees in the hazards and procedures for maintaining the integrity of
process equipment; inspect and test such equipment; fo]low generally accepted good
engineering practices for inspections and testing procedures; document its inspections and
tests; correct deficiencies in equipment before further use; assure that any new equipment is
suitable for the process application; perform appropriate checks and inspections to ensure
that equipment is installed properly; and assure that maintenance materials and spare parts
are suitable for the process application.

105.  As described in Paragraph 34 above, during EPA’s January 12, 2010
inspection, Respondent personnel orally responded to questions on the RMP Program Level

3 Process Checklist. The answers to the questions about 40 C.F.R. § 68.73 indicated that
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Respondent had not complied with the Program 3 mechanical integrity requirements,
although testing and inspections of process equipment were in progress at the time of the
inspection.

106.  In the NOV/AO/RR, EPA required Respondent to provide information about
any mechanical integrity programs between September 30, 2005 and September 29, 2010
that would satisfy the requirements of 40 C.F.R. § 68.73. With the exception of information
about maintenance logs and occasional underground tank inspections, in its March 3, 2011
submission Respondent produced no information indicating that, as of the date of EPA’s
January 2010 inspection, it had established and implemented written, ongoing mechanical
integrity procedures to ensure the safety of process equipment.

107. A review of the 1999 RMP Manual indicated that Respondent performed
inspections and tests on chemical process equipment in accordance with ASTM accepted
good engineering practices, but Respondent’s 2002 RMP compliance audit found that the
frequency of inspections and tests were unknown and ;hat inspections were not
documented. In Respondent’s July 2010 RMP compliance audit, Respondent found that
written mechanical integrity procedures, training, inspection records, records of
deficiencies or corrections were not available for review and that the standard operating
procedures did not address integrity testing/verification. For example, Respondent had no
above-ground storage tank design information at the féoility, which made it impossible to
have a preventative maintenance program for those tanks and to document that the tanks
complied with design codes. Respondent’s contractor had to research all that information

in order to conduct a full inspection of tanks and piping in 2010.
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108.  Among other things, during EPA’s January 2010 inspection, EPA’s
inspectors found some improperly maintained tanks and tank supports, compromised
secondary containment, and broken overflow detectors.

109.  Also, Respondent’s July 2010 Process Hazard Analysis revealed that that
some overfill meters were not working and that there were no regular inspection procedures
to prevent tank failure. Likewise, when Respondent’s contractor inspected Respondent’s
tanks in 2010, the contractor found that, of the tanks that stored or contained formaldehyde
in 2010, tanks 2 and 3 were unfit for service (at least one of these was not being used at the
time of EPA’s January 2010 inspection); that tanks 1, 4, 8, and 9 were not adequately
supported; and that tank A had a cracked PVC flange than needed repair.

110.  Respondent never submitted a mechanical integrity program for its
warehousing process until November 12, 2010.

111, Accordingly, Respondent violated the mechanical integrity requirements of
40 C.F.R. § 68.73 and Section 112(r)(7)(e) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(r)(7)(e), from at
feast June 2002 to on or about November 12, 2010.

Count Ten: Failure to Comply with Program 3 Compliance Audit Requirements for
both Compounding and Warehousing Processes

112, Complainant realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs I through
111 of this document.

113.  Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 68.79, the owner or operator of a Program 3 process
must evaluate compliance with the provisions of the prevention program at least every three

years; document the audit findings; promptly determine and document a response to each of
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the findings of the audit; document that deficiencies have been corrected; and retain the two
most recent compliance reports.

114, As described in paragraph 34 above, during EPA’s January 2010 inspection,
Respondent personnel orally responded to questions on the RMP Program Level 3 Process
Checklist. The answers to the questions about 40 C.F R. § 68.79 indicated that Respondent
had not completed such compliance audits or retained the most recent compliance reports.

115.  Inthe NOV/AO/RR, EPA required Respondent to provide information about
any compliance audits it had performed between September 30, 2005 and September 29,
2010 that might meet the requirements of 40 C.F.R. § 68.79. In its March 3, 2011
submission, Respondent referenced only the compliance audit performed by Respondent’s
contractor from July 6-16 of 2010.

116. Respondent’s November 2010 RMP Manual included another audit of the
compounding process tfxat was performed from June 20-26 of 2002.

117.  Also, Respondent noted in its 2004 RMP update submittal, dated June 25,
2004, that a second compliance audit was completed on June 2, 2004, but no audit report or
checklist was generated for this review other than the five-year submittal report.
Accordingly, that audit did not meet the documentation standards of 40 C.F.R. § 68.79.

118.  The next three-year audit should have been conducted on or before June 2,
2007, but there are no records available to indicate that this audit was ever completed.

119, Respondent never completed a three-year compliance audit for the

warehousing process, for which it did not file an RMP until September 21, 2010.
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120.  Accordingly, Respondent violated 40 C.F.R. § 68.79 and Section 112(r)(7)(¢)
of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(r)(7)(e), from at least June 2, 2004 to July 16, 2010, when

Respondent’s contractor sent Respondent the 2010 audit results.
B. Texas, Illinois, and California Facilities

Count Eleven: Failure to Submit a RMP for Formaldehvde in Texas Warehouse

121, Complainant realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through
120 of this document.

122.  As alleged in paragraphs 44-55, from at least 2006 to the present, Respondent
has operated a warchouse in Texas where it stores formaldehyde-containing products. That
warehouse is a “stationary source” with a “covered process” having more than the threshold
amount of formaldehyde, an RMP chemical.

123, Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. §§ 68.10 and 68.12, Respondent was required to
implement a Risk Management Program at the Texas Facility for the storage of
tormaldehyde in quantities over the 15,000 pound threshold.

124, Under 40 C.F.R. §§ 68.10(a), 68.12, and 68.150, Respondent was required to
prepare and submit a RMP for formaldehyde documenting compliance with the RMP
requirements before it began storing formaldehyde at the Texas Facility.

125,  Respondent did not submit an RMP until on or about March 3, 2011.

126. By failing to submit the RMP for formaldehyde before storing it at the Texas
Facility in amounts that exceeded the regulatory thresh»old, from at least 2006 to March 3,

2011, Respondent violated Section 112(r)(7)(e) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(r)(7)(e), and

40 C.F.R. §§ 68.10(a), 68.12 and 68.150.
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Count Twelve: Failure to Submit a RMP for Formaldehvde in Illinois Warehouse

127.  Complainant realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through
126 of this document,

128.  As alleged in paragraphs 44-55, from at least 2006 to the present, Respondent
has operated a warehouse in [llinois where it stores formaldehyde-containing products. That
warehouse is a “stationary source” with a “covered process” having more than the threshold
amount of formaldehyde, an RMP chemical.

129.  Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. §§ 68.10 and 68.12, Respondent was required to
implement a Risk Management Program at the Illinois Facility for the storage of
formaldehyde in quantities over the 15,000 pound threshold.

130, Under 40 C.F.R. §§ 68.10(a), 68.12, and 68.150, Respondent was required to
prepare and submit a RMP for formaldehyde documenting compliance with the RMP
requirements before it began storing formaldehyde at the Illinois Facility.

131.  Respondent did not submit an RMP until on or about March 3, 2011.

132. By failing to submit the RMP for formaldehyde before storing it at the
[lfinois Facility in amounts that exceeded the regulatory threshold, from at least 2006 to
March 3, 2011, Respondent violated Section 112(r)(7)(e) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. §

7412(:)(7)(e), and 40 C.F.R. §§ 68.10(a), 68.12 and 68.150.

Count Thirteen: Failure to Submit a RMP for Formaldehvde in California Warehouse
133, Complainant realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs | through
132 of this Document.
134, Asalleged in paragraphs 44-55, from at least 2006 to the present, Respondent

has operated a warehouse in California where it stores formaldehyde-containing products.
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That warehouse is a “stationary source” that contains a “covered process” having more than
the threshold amount of formaldehyde, an RMP chemiéal.

135.  Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. §§ 68.10 and 68.12, Respondent was required to
implement a Risk Management Program at the California Facility for the storage of
formaldehyde in quantities over the 15,000 pound threshold.

136.  Under 40 C.F.R. §§ 68.10(a), 68.12, and 68.150, Respondent was required to
prepare and submit a RMP for formaldehyde documenting compliance with the RMP
requirements before it began storing formaldehyde at the California Facility.

137.  Respondent did not submit an RMP until on or about October 6, 2011.
However, according to information from Dodge, Dodge had prepared and submitted to the
San Bernandino County Fire Department an RMP in November 2006.

138. By failing to submit the RMP for formaldehyde before storing it at the
California Facility in amounts that exceeded the regulatory threshold, from at least 2006 to
October 6, 2011, Respondent violated Section 112(r)(7)(e) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. §
7412(r)(7)(e), and 40 C.F.R. §§ 68.10(a), 68.12 and 68.150.

Count Fourteen: Failure to Timely Provide Tier II Hazardous Chemical Inventory Forms
to the Proper Authorities in Violation of EPCRA for Texas Facility

139.  Complainant realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 55
of this document.

140.  Asalleged above in paragraph 47, Respondent stored over 15,000 pounds of
formaldehyde at the Texas Facility every year from at least 2006-2011.

141.  According to Respondent’s July 7, 2010 Tier II form for calendar year 2009,

methanol was also present at the Texas Facility during calendar year 2009 in average daily
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amounts between 10,000 and 99,999 pounds and a maximum amount of 12,000 pounds.
Formaldehyde was present in a maximum amount of 20,000 pounds.

142.  Formaldehyde and methanol are “hazardous chemicals™ as defined under 29
C.F.R. § 1910.1200(c). Additionally, formaldehyde is considered an “extremely hazardous
substance” pursuant to 40 C.F.R. Part 355.

143, In accordance with 40 C.F.R. § 370.10(a) (formerly § 370.20(b)), extremely
hazardous substances are subject to a 500 pounds minimum threshold level (“MTL”) or the
listed threshold planning quantity, whichever is lower, while other hazardous chemicals
(except some fuels at retail gas stations) are subject to a higher 10,000 pounds MTL.
Neither formaldehyde nor methanol at the Texas Facility fall into the exceptions to
EPCRA’s definition of hazardous chemicals listed at 40 C.F.R. § 370.66 (formerly §
370.2).

144.  In calendar year 2009, Respondent stored formaldehyde in quantities that
were equal to or greater than the MTL of 500 pounds for extremely hazardous substances
set forth in 40 C.F.R. § 370.10(a)(1) (formerly § 370.20(b)(1)).

145.  Likewise, in calendar year 2009, Respondent stored methanol in amounts that
exceeded the 10,000 pound MTL that applies to that chemical.

146. In calendar years 2006-2008, Respondent stored formaldehyde in quantities
that exceeded the MTL of 500 pounds for extremely hazardous substances set forth in 40
C.F.R. § 370.10(a)(1) (formerly § 370.20(b)(1)).

147.  Pursuant to EPCRA Section 312(a), 42 U.S.C. § 11022(a), and 40 C.F.R. §§
370.20, 370.40, 370.44, and 370.45 (formerly §§ 370.20 and 370.25), Respondent was

required to prepare and submit a Tier I form to the SERC, LEPC and local fire department
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for calendar years 2006, 2007, 2008, and 2009 on or before March 1 of the next calendar
year, in order to report the data required by Section 312(d) of EPCRA, 42 U.S.C. §
11022(d), and 40 C.F.R. § 370.42.

148.  Respondent failed to submit Tier II forms by March 1 of 2006, 2007, 2008,
and 2009, to the SERC, LEPC and local fire department. Respondent submitted its first Tier
II form for this facility on July 7, 2010. During this time, Respondent submits that it was in
communication with the local fire department. |

149.  Accordingly, Respondent violated EPCRA Section 312(a), 42 U.S.C. §
11022(a), and 40 C.F.R. §§ 370.20, 370.40, 370.44 and 370.45 (formerly §§ 370.20 and
370.25).

150. Each day a violation of EPCRA Section 312(a) continues constitutes a

separate violation.

Count Fifteen: Failure to Timely Provide Tier II Hazardous Chemical Inventory Forms to

the Proper Authorities in Violation of EPCRA for lllinois Facility

151.  Complainant realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through
150 of this document.

152.  Asalleged above in paragraph 47, Respondent stored over 15,000 pounds of
formaldehyde at the Illinois Facility every year from at least 2006 to 2011.

153.  According to Respondent’s July 7, 2010 Tier I form for calendar year 2009,
methanol was also present at the Texas Facility during éalendar year 2009 in an average daily
amount of between 10,000 and 99,000 pounds and a maximum daily amount of 30,000

pounds.
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154. In calendar year 2009, Respondent stored formaldehyde in quantities that
exceeded the MTL of 500 pounds for extremely hazardous substances set forth in 40 C.F.R.
§ 370.10(a)(1) (formerly § 370.20(b)(1)).

155.  Likewise, in calendar year 2009, Respondent stored methanol in amounts that
exceeded the 10,000 pound MTL that applies to that chemical.

156. In calendar years 2006-2008, Respondent stored at least formaldehyde in
quantities that exceeded the MTL of 500 pounds for extremely hazardous substances set
forth in 40 C.F.R. § 370.10(a)(1) (formerly § 370.20(b)(1)).

157.  Pursuant to EPCRA Section 312(a), 42 U.S.C. § 11022(a), and 40 C.F.R. §§
370.20, 370.40, 370.44 and 370.45 (formerly §§ 370.20 and 370.25), Respondent was
required to prepare and submit a Tier Il form to the SERC, LEPC and local fire department
for calendar years 2006, 2007, 2008, and 2009 on or before March 1 of the next calendar
year, in order to report the data required by Section 312(d) of EPCRA, 42 U.S.C. §
11022(d), and 40 C.F.R. § 370.42.

158.  Respondent failed to submit Tier II forms by March | of 2006, 2007, 2008,
and 2009, to the SERC, LEPC and local fire department. Respondent submitted its first
Tier II form for this facility on July 7, 2010. During this time, Respondent submits that it
was in communication with the local fire department.

159.  Accordingly, Respondent violated EPCRA Section 312(a), 42 U.S.C. §
11022(a), and 40 C.F.R. §§ 370.20, 370.40, 370.44. and 370.45 (formerly §§ 370.20 and

370.25).
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Count Sixteen: Failure to Timely Provide Tier 11 Hazardous Chemical Inventorv Forms
to the Proper Authorities in Violation of EPCRA for California Facility

160.  Complainant realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs | through 159
of this document.

161.  Asalleged above in paragraph 47, Respondent stored over 15,000 pounds of
formaldehyde at the California Facility from at least 2006 to 2011 in quantities that exceeded
the MTL of 500 pounds for extremely hazardous substances set forth in 40 C.F.R. §
370.10¢a)(1) (formerly § 370.20(b)(1)).

162.  Pursuant to EPCRA Section 312(a), 42 U.S.C. § 11022(a), and 40 C.F.R. §§
370.20, 370.40, 370.44, and 370.45 (formerly §§ 370.20 and 370.25), Respondent was
required to prepare and submit a Tier Il form (or approved equivalent) to the SERC, LEPC
and local fire department for calendar years 2006 through 2011 on or before March 1 of the
next calendar year, in order to report the data required by Section 312(d) of EPCRA, 42
U.S.C. § 11022(d), and 40 C.F.R. § 370.42.

163.  Respondent failed to submit a Tier II form (or the approved California
equivalent) by March 1 of 2008 and 2009, to the SERC, LEPC and local fire department for
its formaldehyde inventory in calendar years 2007 and 2008. During this time, Respondent
submits that it was in communication with the local fire department.

164.  Accordingly, Respondent violated EPCRA Section 312(a), 42 U.S.C. §
11022(a), and 40 C.F.R. §§ 370.20, 370.40, 370.44, and 370.45 (formerly §§ 370.20 and

370.25).
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V. TERMS OF SETTLEMENT

165.  The provisions of this CAFO shall apply to and be binding on EPA and on
Respondent, its officers, directors, successors, and assigns.

166.  Respondent stipulates that EPA has jurisdiction over the subject matter alleged
in this CAFO and that the CAFO states a claim upon which relief can be granted against
Respondent. Respondent waives any defenses it might have as to jurisdiction and venue and,
without admitting or denying the factual and legal allegations contained herein, consents to the
terms of this CAFO.

167.  Respondent hereby waives its right to a judicial or administrative hearing on

any issue of law or fact set forth in this CAFO and waiyes its right to appeal the Final Order.
168.  Respondent certifies that it is currently operating and will operate the
California, Illinois, and Texas Facilities described in paragraph 43 above in compliance with
Section 312 of EPCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 11023, 40 C.F.R. Part 370, Section 112(r)(7) of CAA, 42
U.S.C. § 7412(r)(7), and 40 C.F.R. Part 68.
169.  Respondent consents to the issuance of this CAFO and to the payment of the
civil penalty cited in paragraph 170.

170.  Pursuant to Section 325(c) of EPCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 11045(c), and Section
113(e) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(e), and taking into account the relevant statutory penalty
criteria, the facts alleged in this CAFO, and such other circumstances as justice may require,
EPA has determined that it is fair and proper to assess a civil penalty of $400,000 for the
violations alleged in this matter. The penalty shall be apportioned in the following manner:

$41,340 for the alleged EPCRA violations and $358,660 for the alleged CAA violations.
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171, Within thirty (30) days of the effective date of this CAFO, Respondent shall
submit a company, bank, cashier’s, or certified check in the amount of $400,000 payable to
the order of the “Treasurer, United States of America,” and referencing the EPA Docket
Number of this action (CAA-HQ-2013-5012 and EPCRA HQ-2013-5012). The check

should be forwarded to:

U.S. EPA

Fines and Penalties
Cincinnati Finance Center
P.O. Box 979077

St. Louis, MO 63197-9000

In addition, at the time of payment, notice of payment of the civil penalty and copies of the check

should be forwarded to:

Clerk, Environmental Appeals Board
U.S. Environmental Protection
Agency MC 1103B
Ariel Rios
1200 Pennsylvania Avenue,
N.W. Washington, D.C. 20460

and

Catherine Smith

Senior Enforcement Counsel

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 1
5 Post Office Square

Suite 100 (OES04-4)
Boston, MA 02109-3912.

172. Collection of Unpaid EPCRA Civil Penalty: Failure by Respondent to pay
the EPCRA penalty in full by the due date may subject the Respondent to a civil action to
collect the assessed penalty, plus interest at current prevailing rates from the date of the Final
Order. Pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3717, EPA is entitled to assess interest and penalties on debts
owed to the United States and a charge to cover the costs of processing and handling a

delinquent claim. Interest will therefore begin to accrue on a civil or stipulated penalty if it is
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not paid by the last date required. Interest will be assessed at the rate of the United States
Treasury tax and load rate in accordance with 31 C.F.R. § 901.9(b)(2). A charge will be
assessed to cover the costs of debt collection, including processing and handling costs and
attorneys fees. In addition, a non-payment penalty charge of six (6) percent per year
compounded annually will be assessed on any portion of the debt which remains delinquent
more than ninety (90) days after payment is due. Any such non-payment penalty charge on
the debt will accrue from the date the penalty payment becomes due and is not paid, in
accordance with 31 C.F.R. § 901.9(d).

173, Collection of Unpaid CAA Civil Penalty: Pursuant to Section 113(d)(5) of the
CAA, 42 US.C. § 7413(d)(5), if Respondent fails to pay CAA penalty in full, it will be subject
to an action to compel payment, plus interest, enforcement expenses, and a nonpayment penalty.
Interest will be assessed on the civil penalty if it is not paid within thirty (30) calendar days of
the effective date of this CAFO. In that event, interest will accrue from the éffective date of this
CAFO at the "underpayment rate" established pursuant to 26 U.S.C § 6621(a)(2). In the event
that a penalty is not paid when due, an additional charge will be assessed to cover the United
States' enforcement expenses, including attorneys’ fees and collection costs. Moreover, a
quarterly nonpayment penalty will be assessed for each quarter during which the failure to pay
the penalty persists. Such nonpayment penalty shall be 10 percent of the aggregate amount of
Respondent's outstanding civil penalties and nonpayment penalties hereunder accrued as of the
beginning of such quarter. |

174, All penalties, interest, and other charges shall represent penalties assessed by

EPA, and shall not be deductible for purposes of federal taxes.
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175, Nothing in this CAFO shall be construed as prohibiting, altering, or in any way
limiting the ability of EPA to seek any other remedies or sanctions available by virtue of
Respondent’s violation of this CAFO or of the statutes and regulations upon which this CAFO is
based, or for Respondent’s violation of any applicable provision of law.

176, This CAFO shall not relieve Respondent of its obligation to comply with all

applicable provisions of federal, state or local law.

177.  This CAFO constitutes a settlement by EPA of all claims for civil penalties
pursuant to Sections 113(a) and (d) of the CAA and Section 325(c) of EPCRA for the specific
violations alleged in this CAFO. Compliance with this CAFO shall not be a defense to any
other actions subsequently commenced pursuant to federal laws and regulations administered
by EPA, and it is the responsibility of Respondent to comply with said laws and regulations.

178.  Nothing in this CAFO is intended to resolve any criminal liability of the
Respondent, and EPA reserves all its other criminal and civil enforcement authorities, including
the authority to seek injunctive relief and the authority to address imminent hazards.

179.  Respondent’s obligations under the CAFO shall end when it has paid in full the
scheduled civil penalty, paid any stipulated penalties, and submitted the documentation
required by the CAFO.

180.  Each party shall bear its own costs and fees in this proceeding including
attorney’s fees, and specifically waive any right to recover such costs from the other party
pursuant to the Equal Access to Justice Act, S U.S.C § 504, or other applicable laws.

181.  In accordance with 40 C.F.R. § 22.31(b), the effective date of this CAFO is the

date on which it is filed with the Environmental Appeals Board.

46



182.  Each undersigned representative of the parties certifies that he is fully authorized
by the party responsible to enter into the terms and conditions of this CAFO and to execute and

legally bind that party to it.

For Respondent:

llyg. 27,3013

Date ’

Debbie Dodge
President
The Dodge Company

For Complainant:

?@swmo &Q&ﬂ (Qe/o 3, A0I3

Rosemarie Kelley Date
Director

Waste and Chemical Enforcement Division

Office of Enforcement and Compliance Assurance

EPA
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